ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

JUN 16 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

ISAAC STARKE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002284

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Whether petitioner's guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary because plea counsel, who was operating under a conflict of interest, told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty and would not take his case to trial?

STATEMENT

On March 11, 2013, an Aiken County grand jury indicted petitioner for four counts of third degree CSC with a minor and one count of second degree CSC with a minor. App. 3, l. 5 – 4, l. 8. App. 193. On May 13, petitioner pled guilty to one count of second degree CSC with a minor and one count of third degree CSC with a minor before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. App. 1. Ashley Agnew Hammack represented the State. App. 1. George A. Anderson represented petitioner. App. 1. Judge Early deferred sentencing until May 15, 2013, and sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of fifteen years' imprisonment on both charges. App. 30, l. 5 – 31, l. 22. Petitioner did not appeal.

On April 7, 2014, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 33. On September 20, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. App. 61. J. Falkner Wilkes represented petitioner. App. 61. Julie A. Coleman represented the State. App. 61. On November 7, 2016, Judge Hood denied petitioner's application. App. 180. This petition follows.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner's guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary because plea counsel, who was operating under a conflict of interest, told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty and would not take his case to trial.

Factual and Procedural Background

The State charged petitioner with molesting his daughter. App. 3, l. 3 – 4, l. 23. The solicitor claimed that petitioner's wife was never investigated, much less charged, but stated that she "was extremely non-cooperative with law enforcement" and "refused to meet with the solicitor's office or talk with us at any point." App. 138, l. 14 – 140, l. 5. It seems very likely that petitioner's wife knew about the alleged abuse before it was reported to law enforcement. App. 28, ll. 14 – 20. At the guilty plea, plea counsel told Judge Early:

This is a very religious-oriented family and when these circumstances arose and became known to the family, there were some persons who tried to rectify some things moving this man out of the marital home and into a secondary place to try to sort of keep things together and there are several people here. One would like to speak from the church.

App. 28, ll. 14 – 20. Petitioner was in jail almost two hundred days before his plea. App. 16, ll. 8 – 14. A psychologist who allegedly evaluated petitioner for competency told Judge Early that he and plea counsel "didn't feel like it was appropriate to release him on bail. . . ." App. 20, ll. 19 – 20.

This testimony at the plea hearing corroborates petitioner's testimony at the plea hearing about the family's reaction to the abuse allegations. App. 116, l. 5 -117, l. 16. Appellant testified, "It was completely settled five months earlier with that pastor back there. I moved across town and stayed out of the home five months and she's the one that asked me to move back home." App. 116, ll. 5 – 17. Appellant stated that he bought a travel trailer and lived

across the street from his house. App. 116, ll. 18 – 24. He would only go to his house when his daughter was not home. App. 116, l. 18 – 117, l. 1. Appellant testified that his attorney “wouldn’t let me come to court because **they said they’d put my wife in prison for just as long** because my wife told me at the end, ‘Why don’t you just have sex with her.’ I said, ‘Are you crazy. I love my daughter.’” App. 116, ll. 5 – 17 (emphasis added).

Plea counsel admitted that he represented both appellant and his wife at the same time. App. 157, ll. 10 – 12. He represented petitioner in the criminal charges and claimed he only represented the wife in the DSS action concerning the children. App. 157, ll. 10 – 24. Plea counsel testified no conflict of interest existed because petitioner and his wife’s goals were aligned. App. 157, ll. 10 – 24.

Plea counsel had known petitioner’s family “for decades.” App. 16, ll. 2 – 7. Petitioner’s mother, who plea counsel described as “a very well-known lady” in Aiken County contacted him to represent her son and he was ultimately retained. App. 151, l. 14 – 152, l. 24. Plea counsel had petitioner evaluated by a psychologist, Dr. Joe Holt (“Holt”). App. 154, ll. 4 – 8. App. 18, l. 16 – 23, l. 17. The daughter’s guardian ad litem sent a letter to the court indicating that Dr. Holt was treating petitioner’s daughter and wife in “joint therapy sessions” **before** petitioner’s guilty plea. App. 176-77.

Amazingly, plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty. App. 152, ll. 9 – 24. Plea counsel said:

And of course he was accused of sexually molesting the girl over a period of a couple of years. And, the essence of those discussions were that once the Defendant had admitted that—the circumstances and the facts. **I said, “Well, fine. We’re headed to let the Court know that. In other words, offer a plea to the Court that I’ll represent you. If you want me to try this case before a jury based upon the information you’ve already given me, I will not participate in that. I don’t handle those kinds of cases on a trial basis.”**

Q. Did you discuss any defenses with the Applicant?

A. No.

App. 152, l. 13 – 153, l. 2 (emphasis added).

At the plea hearing, petitioner hesitated when Judge Early asked him if he was guilty. App. 13, ll. 8 – 16. He told the court, “I didn’t stick my finger in her vagina, Your Honor.”¹ App. 13, ll. 15 – 16. Digital penetration was the basis of the second degree CSC charge. App. 12, l. 23 – 13, l. 6. After conferring with plea counsel, petitioner then said he was guilty. App. 13, l. 17 – 15, l. 12.

Plea counsel had no independent recollection of what he said to petitioner during this discussion. App. 159, ll. 6 – 22. He guessed he told petitioner that “If you’re offering a plea and you’re guilty of the charges, then you need to indicate that to the judge.” App. 159, ll. 20 – 22. Petitioner testified that he was led to believe he would receive a four-year sentence and plea counsel urged him during this discussion, “Get your deal. Get your deal. Get your four-year deal. Remember your deal.” App. 163, l. 10 – 164, l. 2. Plea counsel denied leading petitioner to believe he would receive a four-year sentence. App. 158, ll. 5 – 22.

Petitioner is severely mentally ill. App. 19, l. 21 – 22, l. 17. He has bipolar disorder and the psychologist told the plea judge he had been in a psychotic state. App. 19, l. 21 – 22, l. 17. Petitioner’s testimony at the PCR hearing is rambling and chaotic and Judge Hood repeatedly had to calm him down so that the court reporter could take his testimony. App. 10, l. 11 – 71, l. 23. Even the solicitor noted petitioner’s strange behavior at the PCR hearing, telling the court,

¹ Petitioner also testified at the PCR hearing that police officers refused his multiple requests for counsel before they took his recorded statement, telling them that if he had money he could call a lawyer and that if he was a man of faith, he would confess. App. 64, l. 2 – 97, l. 22. Petitioner told plea counsel about the refusal to honor his request for counsel and plea counsel told him “That don’t mean nothing. Only thing they’re going to do is go back and re-arrest you. That don’t mean nothing. You’re a child molester.” App. 98, ll. 1 – 9.

“[Petitioner] acted extremely different from his demeanor today, both in the—from his tone of voice in the recording with his interview with law enforcement but also at the plea.” App. 137, ll. 14 – 19. Jail records indicate petitioner was taking Risperdal and Zoloft at the time of his plea. App. 169. Despite petitioner’s limitations, he testified at the PCR hearing that he did not want to plead guilty because he did not digitally penetrate his daughter and wanted a new trial. App. 100, l. 7 – 105, l. 16. When told he could face greater punishment, petitioner said “That’s just a risk I got to take.” App. 105, ll. 11 – 12.

Discussion

The PCR court erred in denying relief because plea counsel’s conflict of interest and coercion rendered petitioner’s guilty plea unknowing and involuntary. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). Plea counsel’s acceptance of a fee only if petitioner agreed to plead guilty amounts to a fee contingent on a particular outcome, which is not allowed in criminal cases in South Carolina. S.C. R. Prof. Conduct 1.5(d)(2). Plea counsel unequivocally testified at the PCR hearing that he would only represent petitioner if he pled guilty. App. 152, ll. 9 – 24. Not only was this a denial of petitioner’s right to the effective assistance of counsel, it effectively denied petitioner his right to a jury trial. U.S. Const. amend. VI.

“An applicant may attack the voluntary and intelligent character of a guilty plea entered on the advice of counsel only by demonstrating that counsel’s representation was below an objective standard of reasonableness.” Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). An applicant proves prejudice by showing that counsel’s constitutionally deficient performance affected the outcome of the plea. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52, 59 (1985).

Plea counsel here performed deficiently by coercing petitioner to plead guilty from the outset of his representation. He candidly admitted telling petitioner he would only represent him

at a guilty plea. He also brazenly admitted that he never discussed any possible defenses with Petitioner. Petitioner's initial denial of a key element of the crime at the plea hearing shows the effect of the coercion.

Petitioner was entitled under the Sixth Amendment to advice from conflict-free counsel. Cuyler v. Sullivan, 466 U.S. 335 (1980); Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 9, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017). It is clear from sources in the record (other than petitioner) that it is highly likely the wife knew about the abuse allegations before it was reported to law enforcement. She could have been charged as an accessory, with aiding or abetting, or with unlawful conduct toward a child. It is undisputed that she was a defendant in a DSS action, so the notion that she was not being investigated or no conflict existed because she was not formally charged with a crime is manifestly incorrect. The solicitor's assertion at PCR that plea counsel had "no capacity" to represent the wife because she had no charges is absurd. Targets and potential targets of investigations routinely hire attorneys. At the very least, the wife was a witness. Furthermore, the guardian ad litem's letter shows that the psychologist hired by plea counsel for petitioner was **treating the wife and the alleged victim** in the months before petitioner's plea.

Under Gonzales, it does not matter whether plea counsel recognized the conflict of interest. Gonzales at 11-12, 795 S.E.2d at 840. The attorney in Gonzales had a conflict of interest when he simultaneously represented the defendant and his mother's boyfriend on drug charges. Id. The failure to pursue cooperation for the defendant in Gonzales to the benefit of the boyfriend led this Court to reverse. Id. Here, plea counsel had an incentive to protect the wife at the expense of petitioner. Had petitioner gone to trial, it ran the risk of implicating the wife and would certainly have caused her to become a witness. The conflict caused an unacceptable burden on the representation and led to petitioner being coerced to plead guilty. In Gonzales, the

defendant was prejudiced because of the attorney's "failure to advise petitioner as to favorable options he may have otherwise exercised." Id. at 12, 795 S.E.2d at 840. Here, plea counsel admitted at the PCR hearing that he never advised petitioner about any possible defenses and foreclosed all possibility of a trial from the beginning of the representation. Petitioner "need not demonstrate prejudice if there is an actual conflict of interest." Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93, 102, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008) (holding plea counsel ineffective for simultaneously representing a husband and wife). See also Thomas v. State, 346 S.C. 140, 551 S.E.2d 254 (2001) (finding an actual conflict of interest arising from simultaneous representation of husband and wife).

The State may argue that the issue presented is not preserved for appeal. The issue is preserved because the coercion and the conflict of interest were squarely placed before the PCR judge at the hearing. Even suffering from a severe mental illness, petitioner himself was able to express the issue in a succinct and compelling fashion:

I believe it harmed the defense of my case because the interest of me going to court in an open court of law and testifying would have incriminated my then wife. And that is precisely the reason he told me he could not take it to open court. **And he also said that up here on the stand.** He said if they was going to take it the court I didn't want the case at all but if it was a plea I'd take the case.

App. 163, ll. 1 – 9 (emphasis added).

The PCR court's order cites petitioner and plea counsel's testimony about conflicts of interest. App. 182, 185. It cites the solicitor's testimony that petitioner's wife was never charged. App. 184. The PCR court ruled that petitioner "failed to meet his burden in proving Plea Counsel was ineffective **in any regard.**" App. 187. The PCR court's Order addresses ineffective assistance of counsel, involuntary guilty plea and finds petitioner did not show prejudice. As part of its holding on involuntary guilty plea, the PCR court stated it found "very

credible” plea counsel’s testimony that “he advised Applicant of all facts and risks of pleading guilty” despite plea counsel’s glaring admission that he never discussed any defenses with petitioner.

If the State argues this issue is not preserved and this Court accepts the State’s argument, then this Court should remand this case to the PCR court for further proceedings. In Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007), this Court held that the following general denial does not constitute a sufficient ruling on any issues and **“should not be included in a PCR order unless there are allegations contained in the application and/or mentioned at the PCR hearing about which absolutely no evidence is presented:”**

As to any allegations raised in the application or at the hearing not specifically addressed by this Order, this Court finds that the applicant failed to present any evidence regarding such allegations. Accordingly, this Court finds that the applicant failed to meet his burden of proof regarding them. Therefore, any and all allegations not specifically addressed in this Order are hereby denied and dismissed.

Id. at 409, 653 S.E.2d at 266. The PCR court’s Order in this case contained the following:

As to any and all allegations that were raised in the application or at the hearing in this matter and not specifically addressed in this Order, this Court finds the Applicant failed to present any testimony, argument, or evidence at the hearing regarding such allegations. Accordingly, this Court finds the Applicant has abandoned any such allegations.

App. 191. For all intents and purposes, these two paragraphs are identical and its inclusion violated Marlar because petitioner presented substantial evidence about the conflict of interest.