STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Aiken County
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2016-002284

RECEIVED

NOV 01 2017

S.C. SUPREME COURT

ISAAC STARKE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE A. COLEMAN
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 102214

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

Probative evidence supports the PCR court's finding that Petitioner's plea was entered freely, voluntarily, and intelligently, and Petitioner's assertion that Plea Counsel's testimony that he would only represent Petitioner if he pled guilty made his plea involuntary is meritless and is not preserved for appellate review.

Petitioner argues the PCR court erred in finding Petitioner's guilty plea was knowing and voluntary because Plea Counsel told Petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty and would not take his case to trial. Petitioner's argument is improper, as it was not raised before the lower court or ruled upon and accordingly is unpreserved for appellate review. Regardless, the PCR court correctly relied on probative evidence in making its finding that Petitioner's plea was knowing and voluntary, and this Court should affirm its findings.

Relevant Law

To find a guilty plea is voluntarily and knowingly entered into, the record must establish the defendant had a full understanding of the consequences of his plea and the charges against him. Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238 (1969). Defendant's knowing and voluntary waiver of statutory or constitutional rights must be established by a complete record, and "may be accomplished by colloquy between court and defendant, between court and defendant's counsel, or both." Roddy v. State, 339 S.C. 29, 34, 528 S.E.2d 418, 421 (2000) (citing State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 437, 427 S.E.2d 171, 174 (1993)). A guilty plea is a solemn, judicial admission of the truth of the charges against an individual; thus, a criminal inmate's right to contest the validity of such a plea is usually, but not invariably, foreclosed. Dalton v. State, 376 S.C. 130, 137-38, 654 S.E.2d 870, 874 (Ct. App. 2007) (citing Blackledge v. Allison, 431 U.S. 63 (1977)). Therefore, statements made during a guilty plea should be considered conclusive unless a criminal inmate

presents valid reasons why he should be allowed to depart from the truth of his statements. Crawford v. United States, 519 F.2d 347 (4th Cir.1975).

Preservation

The issue Petitioner presents to this Court is clearly and simply unpreserved for appeal. It was never raised or ruled upon by the PCR court. In his Petitioner for Writ of Certiorari, Petitioner attempts to assert that the issue was addressed in the Order of Dismissal, and argues the State purposefully misled opposing counsel into thinking the issue was preserved by drafting an order which mentions the issue but does not rule upon it. PWC 10. This is simply untrue. The mention of this issue to which Petitioner refers is under the “Summary of Relevant Testimony Presented” section of the Order of Dismissal, which simply summarizes the testimony that was presented to the PCR court. App. 182, 185. It is not a ruling, a finding, or a holding. It is simply a shortened recount of the assertions Applicant made on the stand at the evidentiary hearing. There was no opportunity for the PCR court to rule on this issue because it was never presented to the court.

This Court recently ruled on this exact issue in Mangal v. State, Op. No. 27726 (S.C.Sup.Ct. refiled October 4, 2017) (Shearouse Adv.Sh. No. 38 at 12). In Mangal, this Court reversed the decision of the Court of Appeals and reinstated the PCR court’s order denying post-conviction relief where there was some testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing on a specific issue, but the issue was never raised to the court. This Court relied on the fact that Mangal never mentioned the issue in his written application, no amendment was ever made raising the issue, PCR counsel did not make an oral amendment at the evidentiary hearing to add the issue as a claim, and he did not specifically make the claim at the hearing even when testimony on the issue came up. Unlike in the present case, Mangal’s attorney made a brief

mention of the issue in his closing argument at the evidentiary hearing, and later filed a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to reconsider asking the court to address the issue. This Court ruled the PCR court properly refused to rule on the issue, as it was never raised and no testimonial evidence was presented in support of the allegation. This Court held that the PCR court could not be expected to recognize the claim based only on a very brief and broad mention of it in closing argument. Mangal, at 17 (“To the extent PCR counsel's brief statement constitutes a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, we find a PCR judge would have difficulty recognizing it.”)

The present case should have the same result. Though Petitioner asserted several allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel, he never raised the issue of whether counsel was ineffective for telling him he would only represent him if he pled guilty. It was not raised in his original application, in an amendment, or at the evidentiary hearing. Notably, when the Order denying post-conviction relief was issued, Petitioner did not file a Rule 59(e), SCRPC, motion to reconsider to raised or preserve that specific issue, as required by Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007) (holding that when a PCR court fails to make specific findings as to an issue, a Rule 59(e) motion is necessary to preserve the issue for appeal).

Petitioner is clearly in procedural default, and the PCR court’s opinion properly fails to address this specific issue because it simply was not presented to the court. While Petitioner insists his failure to raise this issue to the lower court should entitle him to a remand for further evidentiary hearings, he presents no valid reason why his case is extraordinary enough to excuse his procedural mistakes. Petitioner was given the opportunity to raise and fully argue every issue he deemed meritorious at the evidentiary hearing. There is no reason to allow him a second bite at the apple to bring up a new issue that would have been addressed at the hearing if it were truly

meritorious. Here, as in Mangal, there is simply no extraordinary reason to excuse this procedural default, and the issue clearly is not preserved for appeal.

Merits

Even assuming this issue were preserved for appeal, it clearly is not meritorious. Petitioner asserts his guilty plea was involuntary because he was coerced to plead guilty by Plea Counsel, who told him he would only represent him if he pled guilty and not if he went to trial. However, the PCR court properly found Petitioner's plea was entered knowingly and intelligently, and that Plea Counsel was not ineffective in any regard in the representation surrounding his guilty plea.

First, it is extremely important to note that the PCR court found Plea Counsel's testimony to be credible and Petitioner's testimony to be not credible. App. 186. The PCR judge was in the best position to determine credibility and, as such, his findings must be given great deference. See Drayton v. Evatt, 312 S.C. 4, 13, 430 S.E.2d 517, 522 (1993) (finding great deference is given to the post-conviction relief judge's findings on the credibility of witnesses); Hyman v. State, 397 S.C. 35, 45, 723 S.E.2d 375, 380 (2012) (noting the heightened emphasis reviewing court's place the upon post-conviction relief court's credibility findings) (citing Solomon v. State, 313 S.C. 526, 443 S.E.2d 540 (1994) (appellate court deference to post-conviction relief court's credibility findings is so great that it required the Court to uphold post-conviction relief court's determination even where testimony at post-conviction relief hearing was unequivocally contradicted by the trial record)).

Petitioner's behavior and testimony at the evidentiary hearing was unusual and incredible. Petitioner asserts that he is severely mentally ill. PWC 5. The prosecuting solicitor testified about the difference in Petitioner's behavior from the guilty plea, stating at the

evidentiary hearing that Petitioner “acted extremely different from his demeanor today, both in the—from his tone of voice in the recording with his interview with law enforcement but also at the plea.” App. 137, line 14-19. All the testimony presented supported the notion that Petitioner was competent and credible at the guilty plea, and no evidence was presented to show Petitioner was not competent to plead guilty. However, Petitioner’s behavior took an extreme turn for the evidentiary hearing, in sharp contrast to his competent demeanor at the plea. For some reason, be it lack of medication or overmedication, or simply malingering, Petitioner became sporadic and exaggerating at the evidentiary hearing, and the PCR court made a finding in its Order of Dismissal that he was not credible. App. 186.

At the guilty plea, Plea Counsel informed the plea court that he felt Petitioner understood the offenses, the potential sentences, and the “most serious” strike and mandatory sex offender registry and G.P.S. monitoring. App. 7, line 2-10. Plea Counsel explained to the plea court that he had advised Petitioner of his right to a trial by jury and he still wished to plead guilty. App. 7, line 11-17. Petitioner testified that he understood the effects and implications of his guilty plea and he wished to plead guilty. App. 9-10. Petitioner had no questions for the plea judge. App. 10, line 7-10. The plea court advised Petitioner of his right to remain silent, his right to a jury trial, and his right to present witnesses on his behalf. App. 10, line 15 – App. 11, line 15. Petitioner testified that he had not been threatened or promised anything in order to plead guilty. App. 11, line 16-19. He testified that he was satisfied with his lawyer, there was nothing else he wanted him to do on his behalf, and he was totally and completely satisfied with his representation. App. 11, line 20 – App. 12, line 8. He stated he was not under the influence of drugs or alcohol and he was pleading guilty of his own free will. App. 12, line 9-14.

When the plea judge asked if Petitioner was guilty of the crimes he was accused of, he hesitated, and told the plea court he did not “stick [his] finger in her vagina.” App. 13, line 15-16. However, after the Solicitor informed the plea court of the factual basis of the charge, he told the plea court that he was guilty and he did commit the acts as alleged in the indictment. App. 14, line 17-23. The plea judge informed Petitioner that if he denied doing what he was accused of, all he had to do was tell him, and they would have a trial. App. 14, line 24 – App. 15, line 10. The plea court explained to Petitioner the process of having a trial and that he would not accept his guilty plea unless he was actually guilty of the crime as accused. App. 15, line 1-10. Petitioner repeated to the plea court that he was guilty. App. 15, line 11. At the end of the plea, Petitioner apologized to the victim, to the court, and to the community for committing this crime. App. 26, line 23. He stated that it was all his fault, he did not understand why he did it, and it will never happen again. App. 27, line 1-9.

At the evidentiary hearing, Petitioner testified that his guilty plea was involuntary because he was misled by Plea Counsel, and he was promised that he would get a four-year deal in exchange for his plea. However, Plea Counsel testified at the evidentiary hearing that there was never any mention of a four-year deal and he never promised Petitioner he would receive a four-year sentence. He testified he believed Petitioner fully understood what he was doing when he pled guilty. App. 153, line 23 – App. 154, line 3. He further stated Petitioner had been evaluated and was found competent to plead guilty. App. 154, line 4-8. He stated Petitioner well understood the potential sentencing range and that he was pleading with no recommendation by the State. App. 155, line 20-22. Plea Counsel testified that Petitioner admitted committing the crimes to him, but would occasionally change his story and deny the offense. App. 160, line 7-14. He stated that in these instances, he would follow up in another letter with a different

personality and different penmanship and apologize, admitting everything. App. 160, line 22 – App. 161, line 1. Plea Counsel testified that he likely would have told Petitioner at the guilty plea that “if you’re guilty of the charges that’s what you need to tell the judge. Then if not, then there will be a trial.” App. 160, line 11-14.

The PCR court relied on this testimony in making its ruling, and it held Plea Counsel's testimony on the subject was credible. App. 186. The PCR court cited to Plea Counsel’s testimony that he advised Petitioner of all facts and risks of pleading guilty, including the potential length of his sentence. App. 189. The PCR court relied on this testimony as well as the record of the guilty plea and further found Petitioner was fully advised of the rights he was waiving by pleading guilty. App. 189. The PCR court held Petitioner was never offered or promised a four-year deal in exchange for his guilty plea, and there was no evidence in the record to support any reliance on this idea or his claim that he was not mentally competent to plead guilty. App. 188-89.

Petitioner’s assertion that he was coerced into pleading guilty because Plea Counsel advised him he would only represent him if he pled guilty is meritless. There is nothing in the record to support this assertion, and Petitioner never alleged that he would have gone to trial rather than plead guilty if Plea Counsel would have represented him at trial.

Conflict of Interest

First, Plea Counsel did not have a conflict of interest which affected his representation. “An actual conflict of interest occurs where an attorney owes a duty to a party whose interests are adverse to the defendant's.” Staggs v. State, 372 S.C. 549, 551, 643 S.E.2d 690, 692 (2007). This Court has further stated that a conflict of interest occurs when “a defense attorney places himself in a situation inherently conducive to divided loyalties.” Lomax v. State, 379 S.C. 93,

101, 665 S.E.2d 164, 168 (2008). “If a defense attorney owes duties to a party whose interests are adverse to those of the defendant, then an actual conflict exists. The interests of the other client and the defendant are sufficiently adverse if it is shown that the attorney owes a duty to the defendant to take some action that could be detrimental to his other client.” Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017) (citations omitted).

Until a defendant shows that his counsel actively represented conflicting interests, he has not established the constitutional predicate for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel arising from multiple representation. Langford v. State, 310 S.C. 357, 359, 426 S.E.2d 793, 795 (1993) (citing Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335, 350 (1980); see also Burger v. Kemp, 483 U.S. 776, 783 (1987)). “The mere possibility defense counsel may have a conflict of interest is insufficient to impugn a criminal conviction.” State v. Gregory, 364 S.C. 150, 152–53, 612 S.E.2d 449, 450 (2005).

Plea Counsel credibly testified at the evidentiary hearing that he never represented Petitioner’s wife on criminal charges; he represented Petitioner and his wife together in family court, in which both of their interests and goals aligned. App. 156-57. Prosecuting Assistant Solicitor Ashley Hammack testified that Petitioner’s wife was never investigated or criminally charged as part of this case. App. 138, line 17-18. She stated that Petitioner’s wife was extremely non-cooperative with law enforcement and would not testify at trial. App. 138, line 14-22. It is clear from the record and testimony presented that no conflict of interest existed at any point in Plea Counsel’s representation.

The factual scenario surrounding this case differs from other cases where this Court has held there was an actual conflict of interest. For example, in Gonzales v. State, 419 S.C. 2, 10, 795 S.E.2d 835, 839 (2017), this Court held there was an actual conflict of interest where trial

counsel represented the petitioner as well as petitioner's mother's boyfriend on unrelated drug charges because there were indicators and allegations of a conspiracy between the two to traffic illegal drugs. Gonzales held that, because these factors indicated an actual conflict of interest, and because the conflict adversely affected counsel's representation, the petitioner was entitled to relief. Gonzales, at 13, 795 S.E.2d at 841. In contrast, in the present case, though Plea Counsel represented Petitioner and his wife simultaneously, Petitioner's wife never faced criminal charges and was only represented in family court. She was not going to be used as a witness at trial to testify against Petitioner. At the time Plea Counsel represented both clients, their goals and interests were aligned—to keep their daughter in the marital home.

Petitioner has not shown that Plea Counsel owed a duty to either client to take some action which could be detrimental to the interests of the other client. Because of this, he cannot show an actual conflict of interest. Because there is no actual conflict of interest, Plea Counsel's representation was not adversely affected in this manner.

Guilty Plea Representation

Second, the fact that Plea Counsel informed Petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty is not inappropriate and does not result in unconstitutional representation. Many attorneys choose only to represent criminal clients at a plea hearing. It is common for a lawyer to focus his practice in one specific area and choose not to go to trial as part of that practice. In some counties, there is a specific public defender assigned to handle guilty pleas and nothing more. Just because Plea Counsel, who was privately retained, chose for whatever reason not to represent Petitioner if he went to trial does not mean he forced him to plead guilty. Plea Counsel's testimony showed that he was honest and open with Petitioner from the beginning. He testified that he told Petitioner he does not handle "those kinds of cases" on a trial basis at the

beginning of his representation. App. 152, line 23-24. He testified that Petitioner admitted his guilt, and he would not participate in a trial based on the information he had given him. App. 152, line 20-23. It is reasonable for a private attorney to choose not to take a case based on his belief of the case's likelihood of success, especially once the client has admitted his guilt.

Furthermore, Petitioner's assertion that this practice is unethical because it violates South Carolina's rule of professional conduct against accepting a contingent fee for representing a defendant in a criminal case, is incorrect. South Carolina Rule of Professional Conduct 1.5(d)(2) is in place to prevent attorneys from setting a fee contingent on the outcome of the jury's verdict. Nowhere in the rule or commentary does it prohibit attorneys from representing a client and charging a fee only if they choose to plead guilty.

The record of the guilty plea hearing and the testimony presented clearly shows Petitioner was fully advised of his right to a jury trial. If he had chosen to pursue a trial rather than plead guilty, he could have retained new counsel or asked to be appointed a public defender to represent him at trial. His assertion that he was coerced to plead guilty because of Plea Counsel is not supported by any credible evidence before the Court.

In conclusion, all the relevant testimony from the PCR hearing is probative evidence that the PCR court relied on in holding Petitioner's guilty plea was knowing and voluntary. Petitioner presented no credible evidence of a valid reason to allow him to depart from his statements at the guilty plea hearing. Because the issue raised is not preserved for appeal and because the PCR court's findings were supported by the probative evidence above, this Court should affirm its denial of the application and deny this Petition for Writ of Certiorari, as certiorari is not warranted in this case.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. Should this Court grant the Petition for Writ of Certiorari, Respondent requests permission to more fully brief the issues herein.